IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TOMMY BRIAN FROST,

Appellant,

Docket Electronically Filed Oct 26 2021 10:04 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF THE HONORABLE JOHN P. SCHLEGELMILCH

THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

KARLA K. BUTKO KARLA K. BUTKO, LTD. Attorney for Appellant P. O. Box 1249 Verdi, Nevada 89439 (775) 786-7118 State Bar # 3307 STEPHEN B. RYE
Lyon County District Attorney
Attorney for Respondent
31 S. Main Street
Yerington, NV 89447
(775) 463-6511

I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

TOMMY BRIAN FROST (Mr. Frost), Appellant herein, was arrested on two counts of being a principal to the promotion of sexual performance of a minor under the age of fourteen and two counts of lewdness with a minor under the age of fourteen. AA 1-3. Mr. Frost eventually accepted a plea offer and negotiated a settlement of the case. The plea bargain was that Mr. Frost would plead guilty to two counts of lewdness with a minor under age fourteen and the parties were free to argue for the appropriate sentence. The State agreed not to pursue any additional charges against Mr. Frost. The case proceeded to sentencing and the court imposed two terms of life in prison with parole eligibility after ten years, to run consecutive to each other. There was no direct appeal. Mr. Frost filed a first and timely petition for writ of habeas corpus (postconviction) arguing that counsel was ineffective. AA 54-60; 75-88. Counsel was appointed and the petition was supplemented by counsel. AA 89-101.

The State moved to dismiss the Petition on the merits and alleged that the

claims were without merit and that they were belied by the record. AA 64-66. Mr. Frost opposed the dismissal of his Petition and argued that an evidentiary hearing was mandated. AA 68-73.

The District Court held an evidentiary hearing but ultimately dismissed the postconviction litigation and denied relief. AA 102-249. The District Court abused its discretion when it refused to grant postconviction relief to Mr. Frost.

II. JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

This Court has jurisdiction over the direct appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief under NRS 34.575(1). The District Court filed its Order denying post-conviction relief on May 19, 2021. AA254. The notice of entry of order was filed on June 3, 2021. AA 252. A timely notice of appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief was filed by counsel Butko on Mr. Frost's behalf on August 6, 2020. AA June 10, 2021. AA 261.

III. ROUTING STATEMENT

This is an appeal from allegations raised in a first and timely petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction). This case involves a prison term two life sentences in prison with an aggregate of 20 years in prison before parole eligibility. The conviction entered on the lewdness charges, two Category A felony violations of NRS 201.230(2) and NRS 195.020. AA 51-53.

NRAP 17(b) (3) provides that this case would be presumptively assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court.

IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER DISMISSING THE PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) CONSTITUTED AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION. DISMISSAL VIOLATED THE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS OF PETITIONER UNDER THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE UNDER THE SIXTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.
 - 2. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE AT THE SENTENCING STAGE OF THE CASE WHEN TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT MITIGATION EVIDENCE, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS AND THE RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES CONTINUED

- 3. THE GUILTY PLEA WAS NOT KNOWING OR VOLUNTARILY ENTERED, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS.
- 4. COUNSEL'S ACTIONS DEPRIVED MR. FROST OF HIS RIGHT TO DIRECT APPELLATE REVIEW OF HIS SENTENCE AND THE DISCOVERY/BRADY VIOLATION IN THE CASE.
- 5. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN COUNSEL FAILED TO LITIGATE THE INABILITY OF THE DEFENSE TO ACCESS THE TELEPHONE INVOLVED AND HAVE IT INSPECTED BY A DEFENSE EXPERT.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves a guilty plea to two counts of lewdness with a minor under the age of fourteen. There were two co-defendants in the matter. Co-Defendant Jessica Jordan (mother of the children). Ms. Jordan is serving a term of life in prison with parole eligibility after service of ten years on this matter.

Mr. Frost entered a plea and executed a plea memorandum. He claimed in his petition for writ of habeas corpus that he was coerced and threatened into entering the guilty plea.

The case proceeded to sentencing on June 17, 2019. Mr. Frost was sentenced to the maximum possible sentence, that of 20 years in prison and two life in prison

maximum terms. No witnesses were called in mitigation. AA 45-50; 51-53. There was no direct appeal.

Mr. Frost filed a first and timely petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Third Judicial District Court. In his petition, he argued that : 1) ineffective assistance of counsel; 2) involuntariness of plea; 3) coerced guilty plea; 4) failure of the State to provide exculpatory discoverable evidence; 5) destruction of excuplatory evidence (his cell phone) by the State. AA 58.

Counsel was appointed and the petition was amended. The claims raised in the supplemental petition were that: 1) counsel was ineffective when counsel coerced Mr. Frost into entering a plea that was not knowing or voluntary; 2) Counsel was ineffective when counsel failed to move to dismiss the charges due to loss of exculpatory evidence by the State; 3) counsel failed to file a direct appeal and litigate the lengthy consecutive sentences and the *Brady/Discovery* violation. AA 79.

The State moved to dismiss the Petition and Amended Petition and argued that it had no merit or was belied by the record. Mr. Frost opposed the dismissal. The district court granted an evidentiary hearing on the claims.

After an evidentiary hearing on the claims, Judge Schlegelmilch dismissed all claims and found that Mr. Frost did not meet his burden of proof and did not demonstrate prejudice. The district court did not find counsel ineffective. AA 253-260. A timely notice of appeal was filed on the denial of the postconviction case. AA 261.

VI. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Factually, Jessica Jordan, the mother of the two female children, went to the Lyon County Sheriff's Office to make a report of possible child pornography. Ms. Jordan alleged that Mr. Frost asked her to send him sexually explicit photographs of her young girls. Ms. Jordan stated that she did so and sent the pictures to Frost. Mr. Frost was arrested in a Reno park with a cell phone on his person. That cell phone was encrypted. The chip was rendered unreadable when the officers tried to open the phone. AA 62. At the evidentiary hearing, it was discovered that Mr.

Frost's cell phone was released form evidence to the grandmother of the two minor children.

Mr. Frost was evaluated at Lake's Crossing to determine his competence to proceed on the case. Dr. Bissett determined he was competent to proceed to adjudication of the case. AA 26. Dr. Loring determined that Mr. Frost was competent to proceed on the case. AA 32. A competency hearing was held and Mr. Frost was deemed competent by the court to proceed. AA 141.

Mr. Frost signed a plea memorandum and that document contained the phrase: "I understand that a direct appeal in this case is not appropriate." AA 63, 239.

On April 29, 2019, Mr. Frost pled guilty to the two felony lewdness with a minor charges. AA 33-44. Mr. Frost was represented by Mario Walther. AA 34-43.

On June 17, 2019, the case proceeded to sentencing. Mr. Walther made a very short sentencing argument for concurrent prison terms with the overall prison term of life in prison and parole eligibility after service of ten years in prison. AA 48.

The State argued for the court to impose the recommendation of the presentence

report, two consecutive life sentences with parole eligibility after service of an aggregate sentence of twenty years in prison. AA 47. The judgment of conviction entered on July 12, 2019.

There was no direct appeal of the sentence or any other issue on this case.

Mr. Frost filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus (postconviction). Counsel was appointed and the petition was amended. The case proceeded to an evidentiary hearing. At the conclusion of the hearing, the district court ruled against Mr. Frost and denied postconviction relief. AA 254-260.

At the evidentiary hearing, Deputy Pruitt testified that he collected two different telephones from Mr. Frost on the date of his arrest. One was on the person of Mr. Frost and was locked. It was placed into evidence. After obtaining a search warrant, the telephone was searched by a program named Intuit Loader and was not able to be opened. AA 111, 242-250. The other phone was not searched. AA 109. The telephone of Jessica Jordan was successfully downloaded b use of Oxygen Forensic. AA 110, 121.

The telephone of Mr. Frost was searched a second time about a month after his arrest by Officer Pruitt and Greg Sawyer of the Washoe County Sheriff's Office. AA 112. There were no defense experts on site at the time of the second search. Mr. Frost did not consent to the search. The detectives tried a JTAG or chip-off to get around the password but that was unsuccessful. The phone was rendered unusable but the chip would still be able to be re-examined in the same fashion. AA 114. The chip would not work in a telephone but would possibly work if placed into a computer. Defense counsel Matthew Merrill was not advised by the State that a second search upon the phone would occur or that it could be destroyed by that search. AA 137. The phone was released by the DA's office to the co-defendant's mother. AA 115, 128. Neither Mr. Merrill or Mr. Walther, defense attorneys, were advised that the telephone was being released to the codefendant's mother. AA 167. Mr. Frost did not sign consent to release his property to Ms. Jordan's mother and had never met this woman. AA 203.

The evidence against Mr. Frost consisted of the telephone of the co-defendant and the statement of the co-defendant and not any evidence on his person at the

time of arrest or any statement made by Mr. Frost. AA 116, 128. The evidence on Ms. Jordan's phone constituted child pornography. AA 119.

Mario Walther testified that he represented Mr. Frost when he worked at Matt Merrill Law. He did not take steps to have an expert open Mr. Frost's cell phone. AA 156. Mr. Frost advised that he wanted to accept a plea offer so further defense investigation ceased. AA 158. There was never a defense investigate retained on the case. AA 161. Mr. Walther stated that he went through the entire plea memorandum with Mr. Frost and that he told Mr. Frost he expected the DA's office to seek consecutive prison terms. AA 160. Mr. Walther explained that he advises the client of their appellate rights when they go through the plea memorandum. AA 166. No further discussion was had between Mr. Walther and Mr. Frost about appellate rights or appellate issues. AA 167. Mr. Walther did not recall Mr. Frost asking him to file a direct appeal and did not believe there were issues that would have been meritorious on direct appeal. AA 170-171.

Mr. Frost testified that he told Mr. Walther that he wanted to appeal the sentencing hearing. Mr. Walther told Mr. Frost that he would start the appellate process for him but never did so. AA 204.

Mr. Walther testified that he did not coerce Mr. Frost into entering a guilty plea and accepting the plea offer from the State. AA 165. Mr. Walther believed that Mr. Frost understood the plea bargain and the court system. AA 174-175.

After the entry of the plea, Mr. Walther was not present with Mr. Frost when he completed the presentence report packet of information or when he was interviewed by the department. AA 164, 178-179.

Mr. Frost testified at the evidentiary hearing. He noted that Matt Merrill and Mario Walther were his trial attorneys. AA 189. Mr. Frost was upset with Mr. Merrill because he did not believe they had significant contact with each other on the defense case. Mr. Frost indicated that Mr. Merrill only visited him two or three times while he was in the jail pending trial. AA 190. Mr. Frost advised Mr. Merrill that he did not want him to be his attorney. AA 191, 209. Mr. Frost provided Mr. Merrill letters that were written to him by Jessica Jordan, stating

that she was sorry for what she had done to him and wanted to have a relationship. AA 192.

Mr. Frost denied the evidence against him, which was on Facebook. He explained that his cell phone was in the possession of Jessica Jordan's boyfriend and Jessica Jordan and that he did not have possession of that phone. AA 194. He ultimately got his phone back from Jessica Jordan at 4:00 a.m. on August 15. AA 195. Mr. Frost argued that the loss of his cell phone precluded him from being able to defend against the charges. AA 219.

Mr. Frost testified that he advised Mr Walther that he wanted a different attorney. Mr. Frost explained that no one answered the phone at the Walther law office and that even his parents could not contact the office. AA 196. Mr. Frost explained that he was in special education classes his entire school life, that he had learning disabilities and trouble with comprehension. AA 198.

Mr. Frost wanted additional time with Mr. Walther before he signed the plea memorandum. He felt rushed, pushed off and coerced when he signed the document in court. AA 200.

Mr. Frost did send an apology letter for the sentencing proceeding. Mr. Frost testified that he provided that letter because Mr. Walther told him that if he apologized that he might get less prison time. AA 201. Mr. Frost testified that it was very difficult to write the apology letter because he knew that in his heart he was not guilty of the crimes. AA 202.

Mr. Frost offered to give Mr. Merrill the password to his phone to demonstrate that there was no child pornography of any type on his cell phone. AA 190.

At the sentencing hearing, Mr. Walther made a very short statement in support of concurrent sentences. Mr. Frost did not address the court and no sentencing mitigation was presented on the case. The court imposed maximum consecutive sentences which aggregate to 20 years before parole eligibility and two life prison terms. This appeal follows the denial of the postconviction petition and the district court's refusal to grant a postconviction remedy.

////

ARGUMENT

1. THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER DISMISSING THE PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) CONSTITUTED AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION. DISMISSAL VIOLATED THE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS OF PETITIONER UNDER THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE UNDER THE SIXTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

Standard of Review:

In *State v. Love*, 109 Nev. 1136, 865 P.2d 322 (1993), this Court reviewed the issue of whether or not a defendant had received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial in violation of the Sixth Amendment. This Court held that the question is a mixed question of law in fact and is subject to independent review and reiterated the High Court's ruling in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

Strickland sets forth a two-pronged test requiring a defendant to show that "counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defense." 466 U.S. at 687. The Nevada Supreme Court indicated that the test on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is that of "reasonably effective assistance" as enunciated by the United

States Supreme Court in *Strickland*. See *Love*, 109 Nev. 1136 (1993). Regarding the second prong, "the defendant must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different." *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996).

A petitioner must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence. *Hogan v. Warden*, 109 Nev. 952, 960, 860 P.2d 710, 716 (1993) (quoting *Sawyer v. Whitley*, 505 U.S. 333, 336 (1992)) and *Means v. State*, 120 Nev. 1001, 103 P.3d 25 (2004).

Argument:

This case involved a very strange set of facts. The evidence against Mr.

Frost came by way of the codefendant, Jessica Jordan. Mr. Frost's phone was never accessed so there was no evidence that Mr. Frost had really received the pictures of child pornography and the testimony of the codefendant was really the case against him. Ms. Jordan pled guilty and received a sentence of life in prison with parole eligibility after service of ten years. While the case was pending in the district court stages, Ms. Jordan sent letters to Mr. Frost apologizing for her

actions in getting him into trouble and seeking to keep a relationship with Mr.

Frost. Defense counsel was advised of the letters. No investigation took place to see what was on Mr. Frost's phone by the defense. A plea offer was accepted which placed Mr. Frost into harm's way for 20 minimum mandatory years in prison before parole eligibility.

Mr. Frost argued that his guilty plea should be withdrawn because he was coerced by counsel into accepting the plea offer from the State. Mr. Frost argued that his sentencing hearing was flawed, that release of his cell phone to Jessica Jordan's mother constituted destruction of evidence and prejudiced the defense case, and that he was deprived of his right to direct appellate review of the sentencing hearing by counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal.

This Court should proceed to review the reasonableness of the available sentence. *See United States v. Cantrell*, 433 F.3d 1269, 1279 (9th Cir. 2006). The United States Supreme Court has concluded that sentencing is such a "critical stage" for purposes of the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. *Mempa v. Rhay*, 389 U.S. 128, 134 (1967); *Gonzales v. State*, 137 Nev.

Adv. Op, 40.

A district court's findings of fact are entitled to deference and will not be disturbed on appeal if they are supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong. *State v. Rincon*, 122 Nev. 1170, 1177, 147 P.3d 233, 238 (2006).

In *Hargrove* this Court stated that post-conviction claims must consist of more than "bare" allegations and that an evidentiary hearing is mandated only when a post-conviction petitioner asserts specific factual allegations that are not belied or repelled by the record and that, if true, would entitle him to relief. *Hargrove* is the cornerstone of post-conviction habeas review. *Hargrove v. State*, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984).

A substantively reasonable sentence is one that is "sufficient, but not greater than necessary" to accomplish § 3553(a)(2)'s sentencing goals. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a); see, e.g., United States v. Vasquez-Landaver, 527 F.3d 798, 804-05 (9th Cir. 2008). This sentence was in excess of that needed for society's interests. See United States v. Rita, 551 U.S. 338, 127 S. Ct. 2456, 2468-69 (2007).

Counsel was ineffective at sentencing. A new sentencing hearing should

be conducted before a court that has not been exposed to the prior litigation of these four cases.

The defendant is entitled to the presence of counsel during any 'critical stage' of the proceedings. *United States v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218, 226-27 (1967); see also U.S. Const. amend. VI; *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 342-45 (1963) (indicating the Sixth Amendment right to counsel is applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment). Mr. Frost proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to a new sentencing proceeding.

Mr. Frost pled postconviction ineffective assistance of counsel claims under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments which would, if true, entitle him to relief. The District Court abused its discretion when it failed to grant Mr. Frost a remedy.

II. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE AT THE SENTENCING STAGE OF THE CASE WHEN TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT MITIGATION EVIDENCE, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS AND THE RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Standard of Review:

See Strickland standard above and Means v. State, supra.

Argument:

The sentencing argument of Mr. Walther should be sufficient, in and of itself, to demonstrate that counsel was ineffective. Mr. Walther simply stated, in ten typed lines of argument, that Mr. Frost wished to seek help while incarcerated, the charges stem from the same occurrence and that the sentences should be concurrent, qualifying Mr. Frost to parole eligibility after service of 10 years. AA 48. Mr. Frost did not even address the sentencing court.

Mr. Walther had ample information with which to mitigate sentence. His client was in special education throughout his school career. Mr. Frost suffered from mood swings, depression and paranoia. Mr. Frost advised of hallucinations. He heard voices. He suffered from anxiety. AA 22-23. Mr. Frost was homeless

from age sixteen. He was suspended from school on different occasions for truancy and anger problems. He dropped out of high school at 11th Grade due to emotional and learning problems. Mr. Frost had employment but lost some jobs due to his mental health issues. AA 28. Mr. Frost suffered a childhood of physical, emotional and attempted sexual abuse. AA 32. Counsel did not advise the district court that Mr. Frost was amenable to treatment for his mental health issues.

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