IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed  
Dec 13 2021 06:22 p.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

TOMMY BRIAN FROST,

Appellant

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent

Docket No. 83065

Appeal From Dismissal of Petition for  
Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)  
Third Judicial District Court, Lyon County, Nevada  
The Honorable John P. Schlegelmilch, District Court Judge

RESPONDENT’S ANSWERING BRIEF

Karla K. Butko, Esq.  
Karla K. Butko, Ltd.  
P.O. Box 1249  
Verdi, Nevada 89439  
(775)786-7118  
State Bar #3387  
(775) 525-2560

Attorney for Appellant  
Tommy Brian Frost

Stephen B. Rye  
District Attorney

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

## **V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court properly denied and dismissed the petition for writ of habeas corpus concluding that trial counsel provided effective representation to Mr. Frost at all stages of the proceedings. The representation was reasonable and Mr. Frost was not prejudiced by the representation in this case. The district court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the petition and properly concluded that counsel provided effective representation to Mr. Frost and he failed to prove that the representation violated *Strickland*. This includes the claim that counsel was ineffective at sentencing. The information Frost says counsel should have presented in mitigation was available to the court in the presentence investigation

report and other documents in the record. There is also no indication that the mitigation Frost now request, had it been presented separately, would have changed the district court's sentence.

Frost also failed to establish that his plea was not entered voluntarily, intelligently and knowingly or that he entered his plea without a full understanding of the consequences, as evidenced by the thorough plea canvass, the written plea agreement, and the testimony of his counsel at the evidentiary hearing.

Frost also failed to establish his counsel was ineffective for not filing an appeal in the case and the district court properly concluded that Frost was advised of his appellate rights and never requested a direct appeal.

Lastly, Mr. Frost's claim that relief should be granted for the loss or destruction of the Mr. Frost's cell phone was properly dismissed because the cell phone was available until after sentencing and the cell phone was not destroyed.

The district court did not abuse its discretion in dismissing the petition.

## **VI. ARGUMENT**

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A district court's resolution of ineffective assistance of counsel claims is reviewed de novo, giving deference to the district court's factual findings if "they are supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong." *Lader v. Warden*, 121 Nev. 682, 686 (2005).

**A. Was the District Court’s Dismissal of the Petition an Abuse of  
Discretion in Violation of Petitioners Constitutional Rights**

The United States Supreme Court has recognized and confirmed that “the right to counsel is the right to effective assistance of counsel.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); *State v. Love* 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993). Under the two-prong *Strickland* test, a defendant who challenges the adequacy of his or her counsel's representation must show (1) that counsel's performance was deficient and (2) that the defendant was prejudiced by this deficiency. *State v. Love*, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993). “A court may consider the two test elements in any order and need not consider both prongs if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on either one.” *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996); *Molina v. State*, 120 Nev. 185, 190, 87 P.3d 533, 537 (2004).

“Surmounting *Strickland*'s high bar is never an easy task.” *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 371, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 1485, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (2010). A court considering a claim of ineffective assistance must apply a “strong presumption” that counsel's representation was within the “wide range” of reasonable professional assistance. *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 104, 131 S. Ct. 770, 787, 178 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2011).

“Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.” *Id.* Effective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is ‘(w)ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.’” *Jackson v. Warden, Nevada State Prison*, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975).

The court’s role in reviewing ineffective assistance of counsel claims is “not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance.” *Donovan v. State*, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978) (citing *Cooper v. Fitzharris*, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. 1977)). The ineffective assistance of counsel analysis does not suggest that the court should “second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics, nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success.” *Donovan*, 94 Nev. at 675, 584P.2d at 711. The court should also “judge the reasonableness of counsel’s challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel’s conduct.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. at 2066.

The Constitution “does not require that counsel do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel cannot create one

and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade.”

*United States v. Cronin*, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984). “Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make futile objections, file futile motions, or for failing to make futile arguments.” *Ennis v. State*, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Counsel's strategy decisions are "tactical" decisions and will be "virtually unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances." *Id.* at 846, 921 P.2d at 280; see also *Howard v. State*, 106 Nev. 713, 722, 800 P.2d 175, 180 (1990); *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. “Strategic choices made by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable.” *Dawson v. State*, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992). Trial counsel alone and not the client has the “immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop.” *Rhyne v. State*, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002) citing *Wainwright v. Sykes*, 433 U.S. 72, 93, 97 S.Ct. 2497, 53 L.Ed.2d 594 (1977).

The petitioner has the burden of proof and must establish the facts underlying his ineffective assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence. *Means v. State*, 120 Nev. 1001, 1013, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004). There is a presumption that trial counsel discharged his duties. *Davis v. State*, 107 Nev. 600,

602, 817 P.2d 1169, 1170 (1991), *overruled on other grounds by Means v. State*, 120 Nev. 1001, 103 P.3d 25 (2004).

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. *Hargrove v. State*, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). “Bare” and “naked” allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. *Id.* Petitioners must allege specific facts supporting the claims in the petition. Failure to allege specific facts rather than just conclusions is a basis for the petition to be dismissed. NRS 34.735(6).

Even if a petitioner can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice. A defendant who pleads guilty upon the advice of counsel may attack the validity of the guilty plea by showing that he received ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.” *Molina v. State*, 120 Nev. 185, 190–91, 87 P.3d 533, 537 (2004). Guilty pleas are presumptively valid, especially when entered on advice of counsel, and a defendant has a heavy burden to show the district court that he did not enter his plea knowingly, intelligently, or voluntarily. *Id.* To establish prejudice in the context of a challenge to a guilty plea based upon an assertion of ineffective assistance of counsel, the petitioner must “demonstrate a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors,

he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” *Id.* at 191. Effective assistance of counsel extends to plea negotiations and the recommendation to accept a plea. *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 162, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1384, 182 L. Ed. 2d 398 (2012). Counsel must evaluate the plea agreement in terms of the evidence and other likely outcomes in the case and advise the petitioner accordingly.

This case involves a very egregious set of facts. Mr. Frost requested pictures of Ms. Jordan’s two and four year old daughters, which led to a request for naked photos of the daughters. The PSI indicated that the co-defendant sent 13 pictures of the victims. There were messages back and forth between Ms. Jordan and Frost regarding him having sexual interaction with the two young victims. A separate motion is filed concurrent herewith for the Court Clerk to transmit the Presentence Investigation to assist the court in reviewing this case and information available to the district court at the time of sentencing.

Frost contends that his sentence should be reviewed. The sentence imposed in this case is within the penalties allowed by NRS 201.230. A sentence within the statutory limits is not cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience. *Blume v. State*, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d 282, 284 (1996); *Culverson v. State*, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221–22

(1979). “This court will refrain from interfering with the sentence imposed “[s]o long as the record does not demonstrate prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence.” *Silks v. State*, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976).” *Chavez v. State*, 125 Nev. 328, 348, 213 P.3d 476, 490 (2009). Frost’s argument regarding the sentence in this case is misplaced and is not relevant to a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Frost cannot raise a claim that the statute is unconstitutional or that this court can review the sentence on these facts.

The district court provided Frost with an evidentiary hearing. The district court evaluated the testimony of the witnesses, including Frost and his attorneys. The evidence supported the district court’s findings, including, but not limited to: that Mr. Frost’s testimony was not credible; that Mr. Frost chose to go forward with the plea after consultation with his attorneys; Frost was provided with all of the discovery; Mr. Merrill and Mr. Walther were prepared to go forward and Frost did not have a change of heart and wanted to go forward with the plea; Frost indicated his guilt in his two letters to the court; it is not credible that Mr. Frost requested anybody to file an appeal; Mr. Frost had several meetings with his attorneys and at no time did he make any objections; the district court allowed Frost additional time to review the case with his attorney. AA 257-258. The district court's factual findings regarding claims of ineffective assistance of counsel

are entitled to deference on subsequent review by this court. *Nika v. State*, 124 Nev. 1272, 1279, 198 P.3d 839, 844 (2008).

The factual findings are supported by the record in this case. The petitioner has the burden of proving his ineffective assistance of counsel claims. The district court properly determined that Frost had not proven his ineffective assistance of counsel claims and he was not entitled to relief. Frost has provided no law of factual basis for this Court to overturn the dismissal by the district court.

Counsel is also required to be effective in plea negotiations. “Defendants have a Sixth Amendment right to counsel, a right that extends to the plea-bargaining process.” *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 162, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1384, 182 L. Ed. 2d 398 (2012). In *Lafler* the parties agreed that counsel was ineffective for advising his client to reject a plea offer with the belief that they could prevail at trial. The case dealt mainly with the prejudice prong, however, it is also a reminder of counsel’s role in the plea negotiation process and the requirement that counsel be effective and advise clients appropriately. Mr. Merrill and Mr. Walther fully discharged their duties in this regard with respect to the plea negotiation process. Each counsel carefully and fully evaluated the evidence after consultation with Mr. Frost. Had Mr. Merrill and Mr. Walther not recommended that Mr. Frost accept this plea agreement, he may well be before the court claiming that they were ineffective for not telling him to do so because the likelihood of conviction at trial

was significant based on the facts and evidence in this case. Mr. Frost faced a potential penalty of four life sentences with additional possible fines of up to \$100,000 each on the two counts that were dismissed. NRS 200.720; NRS 200.750. In addition, the State was intending to file additional charges. AA 143. The attorneys representing Mr. Frost provided effective representation in this case and the representation did not fall below the *Strickland* standard and was reasonable under the circumstances.

**B. Was Trial Counsel Ineffective at the Sentencing Stage of the Case?**

Frost contends that his attorneys were ineffective at the sentencing stage because they did not provide sufficient mitigation. As a result, he claims that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. However, this argument fails because his counsel acted reasonably under the circumstances and Mr. Frost was not prejudiced by the district court decision.

“On appeal, this court generally will not disturb a district court's sentencing determination so long as it does not rest upon impalpable or highly suspect evidence. *Lloyd v. State*, 94 Nev. 167, 576 P.2d 740 (1978); *Silks v. State*, 92 Nev. 91, 545 P.2d 1159 (1976). Counsel is required to present mitigating evidence when such is available and it is beneficial to his client. However, as this court state,

To require defense counsel to present mitigating evidence over the defendant's objection would be inconsistent with an attorney's paramount duty of loyalty to the client and would undermine the trust, essential for effective representation, existing between attorney and client. Moreover, imposing such a duty could cause some defendants who otherwise would not have done so to exercise their Sixth Amendment right of self-representation before commencement of the guilt phase in order to retain control over the presentation of evidence at the penalty phase, resulting in a significant loss of legal protection for these defendants during the guilt phase.

*Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 996, 923 P.2d 1102, 1112 (1996). Frost did not ask for additional time or additional mitigation witnesses. AA 166; 180. Based upon the information in the case, the communications from Mr. Frost, the presentence investigation report and other information, counsel acted reasonably in deciding not to present additional mitigation evidence.

In addition, Frost failed to identify any specific mitigation evidence which counsel could have presented in this case that was not already part of the record. Frost references information that was set forth in the Lake's Crossing Center reports completed as part of the competency evaluation, including mental health issues, homelessness, education, and employment. AA 20-32. The presentence investigation also provided information on these issues. The district court was aware of the mental health issues with Mr. Frost; aware of his employment history; aware of his education and other difficulties. The information referenced by Frost was already included in the information provided to the court as part of the sentencing. Trial counsel provided reasonable representation. In addition, Frost

cannot establish prejudice from the sentencing determination. He cannot show that the sentence would have been any different had this additional information been referenced or submitted during the sentencing hearing.

### **C. Was the Guilty Plea Knowingly and Voluntarily Entered?**

#### Standard of Review:

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